
 
 

Meeting of the Members of the Cortland County Industrial Development Agency 
September 11, 2023 – Noon 

40-42 Main Street, Suite A, 2nd Floor Cortland New York, 13405 
 

Roll Call 
 

Mike McMahon  Chairman   

Stephen Compagni Vice Chairman   

John O. Reagan  Treasurer  

Clint Brooks  Secretary  

Johanna Ames  Member  

Dr. Kathleen Burke  Member  

Donald Richards Member  

 Executive Director  

Karen Niday  Corporate Finance Officer   

Eric Mulvihill Development Specialist   

John Sidd Agency Counsel   
 
Approval of Minutes -  June 12, 2023 
 
New Business 

1. SEQR Determination/Recommendation – Kajen, LLC Virgil School Housing Project  
 

2. Consideration of Preliminary Inducement - Kajen, LLC Virgil School Housing Project  
 

3. Review/Adopt Proposed IDA 2024 Budget  
 

4. Authorize Brendan O’Bryan as Additional Signatory on IDA Accounts  
 
Monthly Reports 
1.)Finance Report 
2.)Director’s Report  

 
Adjourn 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Minutes  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Minutes of the Cortland County Industrial Development Agency Members Meeting of 
June 12, 2023 – Noon 

40-42 Main Street, Suite A, 2nd Floor Cortland New York, 13405 
 

Roll Call – Chairman McMahon called the meeting to order at 12:37 PM 
 

Mike McMahon  Chairman  Present 

Stephen Compagni Vice Chairman  Absent 

John O. Reagan  Treasurer Absent 

Clint Brooks  Secretary Present 

Johanna Ames  Member Present 

Dr. Kathleen Burke  Member Present 

Donald Richards Member Present 

Garry VanGorder  Executive Director Present 

Karen Niday  Corporate Finance Officer  Present  

Eric Mulvihill Development Specialist  Present 

John Sidd Agency Counsel  Present 

Marie Weiss Carpenters Local 277 Present 

Savannah Hempstead  Clerk, Cortland County 

Legislature  

Present 

 
Approval of Minutes - March 27th, 2023, Special Meeting – Chairman 
McMahon made a motion to accept the minutes as presented, Mr. Richards 
seconded the motion; all voting in favor, none opposed. 
 
Monthly Reports 
1.)Finance Report – Ms. Niday reviewed the monthly financial reports 
2.)Director’s Report – Mr. VanGorder updated the Board on the status 
of the Voyant Central Ave facility negotiations. He said a national 



 
 

company has signed a lease on the facility, the owners are currently in 
negotiations with Empire State Development on financial incentives for 
the project. The company plans to create 350 jobs over the course of five 
years.  
 
Mr. VanGorder discussed the recent movement with the City of 
Cortland’s proposed redevelopment of the former Parker School. The 
Cortland County IDA is not currently involved with the project, but the 
developers may pursue some form of assistance.  
 
Mr. VanGorder provided an update on the Apex brownfield site; he said 
the phase II environmental assessment is scheduled to be conducted this 
week. This testing will help ascertain the level of and nature of the 
contaminants that are expected to be found on the site. Once that 
information is ready the IDA can then access the state brownfield 
program to begin marketing the site to perspective developers.  
 
Mr. VanGorder provided an update on the activities of the Regional 
Economic Development Council. The CNY REDC remains focused on 
the Micron development, there are continued conversations about what 
opportunities may exist for surrounding communities like Cortland. The 
IDA board discussed ways to attract supply chain industries that are 
expected to follow the Micron development.  
 
Mr. VanGorder discussed the recent renewable energy systems 
assessment model that was approved as part of the New York State 
budget. The agency is reviewing the financial impact of this model with 
EDF Solar as well as the owners of the proposed Harford solar project. 
At present he did not have any updates on the solar project proposed in 
the Town of Truxton. Another solar project proposed in the Town of 
Cortlandville has not approached the IDA for assistance. The agency is 
working with the City of Cortland and the developer of a proposed solar 
project that would be located on the former Rosen/Noss superfund site 
on the city’s southside.  
 



 
 

Mr. VanGorder discussed the recent manufacturing and process industry 
workshop that Ms. Niday and Mr. Mulvihill organized. The workshop 
featured a group of panelists that work with these industries to access 
grants and other resources specifically geared toward those businesses. 
 
Mr. VanGorder discussed the recent grand re-opening of the Byrne 
Dairy plant in Cortlandville. The company has completed a multi-
million-dollar retooling of the plant to switch from yogurt 
manufacturing to extended shelf-life dairy products. He said Byrne 
remains committed to future investments and growth at the Cortlandville 
site.    
 
Mr. VanGorder discussed a recent meeting with the owners of the 
Cortland line company and discussions about bringing manufacturing of 
products back into their Cortland facility. Currently the company is 
looking for a consultant to develop a re-investment plan for the company 
to realize their goals.  
 
Mr. VanGorder said he expects to bring a PILOT application to the  
Board very soon for the redevelopment of the former Gilette skirt factory 
into a multi-unit residential complex.   
 

 
Adjourn – The meeting was adjourned at 12:37 PM. 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

New Business 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 Kajen LLC – Virgil School 

Housing Project;  Project 

Summary, Project Rationale, & 

Application for Assistance  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Project Summary Sheet 
 
Project Name:  Kajen LLC – Virgil School Project 
                             
 
 

TOTAL PROJECT INVESTMENT     $2,398,150 

 
Total est. tax due over 10 years with no PILOT agreement:  $421,921 
(Property tax; sales tax; mortgage recording tax) 
 
Total exemptions requested in 10-year PILOT    $221,278 

Sales Tax Exemption:  $*70,000    
Mortgage Recording Taxes: $*15,000 
Real Property Taxes  $**136,278 

 
Total estimated taxes paid in a 10-year PILOT   $200,643 
 
Details for the above: 
 
Real Property Tax with No PILOT     $336,921 

Year 1 at current assessment $380,000 ($): 15,098 
(current assessment is purchase price)     
Years 2-10 build out complete                 ($) : 321,823 
(assessment estimated @  $900,000) 
       

 
Real Property Tax under PILOT proposal    $*200,643 
 
  Years 1-5 freeze current assessment ($15,098 yr)  $    75,489   
   
  Years 6-10 % of actual assessment each year: 
  Year 6  50% assess est @ $900,000   $   17,879 
  Year 7  60% “     “    “    @ $900,000        21,455 
  Year 8  70%  “    “    “      “    “   “                    25,031 
  Year 9  80%  “   “     “      “    “   “       28,607 
  Year 10 90%     “     “      “    “   “       32,182 
 
  Year 11  100% back on tax rolls 
    
  * These are estimates. Years 1-5 will be calculated each year using current tax rates 
    and freezing the assessment @ the purchase price - $380.000. Years 6-10 will be  
                calculated with current tax rates and current assessment and the % paid  
               as noted above.  



Value of Real Property Tax incentive:                  $   136,278 
(60% reduction to what would be paid without a PILOT) 
 
      

Cost benefit ratio investment/exemption: .09 
 
Project Rationale 
 
This project meets all of the qualifying criteria as noted in the Development Policy as follows: 
 

• The timeline for projected investment and job creation is within the first two years of 
application; 

• The applicant procures goods and services locally and regionally as often as possible 
during the construction phase of the project; 

• The level and type of investment to be made by the applicant exceeds the minimum 
investment of $500,000; 

• The project enhances the strategic goals identified in the BDC’s economic development 
plan and will enhance the overall regional economic climate 

• The project enhances strategic goals identified in the BDC Development Plan and will 
enhance the overall regional economic climate by providing housing to seniors and 
community services to all ages.  
 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
    



Virgil School Redevelopment  
Kajen LLC 
 
Project Rationale 

Kajen LLC, 4287 N. Homer Ave., Cortland, NY, proposes to redevelop the former Virgil 

Elementary School at 1208 Church St. in Virgil NY, as a residential facility and town community 

center. Developers are acquiring the facility from the Cortland Enlarged City School District, 

which closed the school in 2019 in a cost-saving initiative. The redevelopment plan will 

renovate the interior of the structure to provide 19 one- and two-bedroom apartments but will 

leave the outside of the 93-year-old building relatively intact.  

 

Developers intend to serve residents 55 and older for adult living while maintaining the facility 

as an important community gathering spot and a town emergency evacuation site. Partnerships 

with a variety of other service providers will provide welcome amenities for residents (hair 

styling, etc.), and the grounds will continue to host recreational and other community events 

that Virgil residents have become accustomed to.  

 

  Enabled through the PILOT agreement, the project will: 

• Allow the $2.3 million buildout to include more than living space (community center) 

which adds cost to the project. CCIDA incentives will allow for a more comprehensive 

development of a facility that is treasured in a small village; 

 

• Generate more than $200,000 in new property taxes for a property that under school 

district ownership was tax-exempt; and 

 

• Put back into productive use a facility central to life in the Village of Virgil while 

maintaining it as an important community asset. 

Staff is recommending approval of  CCIDA incentives for this project as outlined in the attached. 

 

 

 





















































































 
 

 
 

 
 

 

SEQR – Kajen LLC – Virgil 

School Housing Project   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 









Page 1 of 2 

            Agency Use Only [If applicable]

Project:

Date:

Short Environmental Assessment Form 
Part 2 - Impact Assessment

Part 2 is to be completed by the Lead Agency.
Answer all of the following questions in Part 2 using the information contained in Part 1 and other materials submitted by 

the project sponsor or otherwise available to the reviewer.  When answering the questions the reviewer should be guided by 

the concept “Have my responses been reasonable considering the scale and context of the proposed action?”    

No, or  

small 

impact 

may 

occur   

Moderate 

to large 

impact 

may 

occur 

1.  Will the proposed action create a material conflict with an adopted land use plan or zoning

regulations?

2. Will the proposed action result in a change in the use or intensity of use of land?

3. Will the proposed action impair the character or quality of the existing community?

4. Will the proposed action have an impact on the environmental characteristics that caused the

establishment of a Critical Environmental Area (CEA)?

5. Will the proposed action result in an adverse change in the existing level of traffic or

affect existing infrastructure for mass transit, biking or walkway?

6. Will the proposed action cause an increase in the use of energy and it fails to incorporate
reasonably available energy conservation or renewable energy opportunities?

7. Will the proposed action impact existing:
a. public / private water supplies?

b. public / private wastewater treatment utilities?

8. Will the proposed action impair the character or quality of important historic, archaeological,
architectural or aesthetic resources?

9. Will the proposed action  result in an adverse change to natural resources (e.g., wetlands,
waterbodies, groundwater, air quality, flora and fauna)?

10. Will the proposed action  result in an  increase in the potential for erosion, flooding or drainage

problems?

11. Will the proposed action create a hazard to environmental resources or human health?

SEAF 2019

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90161.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91098.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91098.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91103.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91399.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91404.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91404.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91414.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91414.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91419.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91419.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91424.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91429.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91429.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91434.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91434.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91439.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91439.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91444.html


Page 2 of 2 

For every question in Part 2 that was answered “moderate to large impact may occur”, or if there is a need to explain why a 

particular element of the proposed action may or will not result in a significant adverse environmental impact, please 

complete Part 3. Part 3 should, in sufficient detail, identify the impact, including any measures or design elements that 

have been included by the project sponsor to avoid or reduce impacts.  Part 3 should also explain how the lead agency 

determined that the impact may or will not be significant. Each potential impact should be assessed considering its setting, 

probability of occurring, duration, irreversibility, geographic scope and magnitude.  Also consider the potential for short-

term, long-term and cumulative impacts. 

Check this box if you have determined, based on the information and analysis above, and any supporting documentation,  
that the  proposed  action  may  result in one or more potentially large or significant adverse impacts and an 

environmental impact statement is required. 

Check this box if you have determined, based on the information and analysis above, and any supporting documentation, 
that the proposed action will not result in any significant adverse environmental impacts. 

_________________________________________________ _______________________________________________ 

Name of Lead Agency Date 

_________________________________________________ _______________________________________________ 

 Print or Type Name of Responsible Officer in Lead Agency Title of Responsible Officer 

_________________________________________________ _______________________________________________ 

Signature of Responsible Officer in Lead Agency Signature of Preparer (if different from Responsible Officer) 

Short Environmental Assessment Form 
Part 3 Determination of Significance

        Agency Use Only [If applicable]
Project:

Date:

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90166.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91450.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91450.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91455.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91455.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91460.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91450.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91450.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91460.html


{H5249060.1}  

A regular meeting of Cortland County Industrial Development Agency (the 
"Agency") was convened in public session at the offices of the Agency located at 40 
Main Street, Suite A, in the City of Cortland, Cortland County, New York on September 
11, 2023 at 12:00 o'clock p.m., local time. 
 
 The meeting was called to order by the Chairman and, upon roll being called, the 
following members of the Agency were: 
 
 PRESENT: 
 
 Michael McMahon   Chairman 
 Stephen Compagni   Vice Chairman 
 Clinton Brooks   Secretary 
 John O. Reagan   Treasurer 
 Johanna Ames   Member 
 Kathleen Burke   Member 

Donald Richards   Member 
 
 ABSENT: 
 
 
FOLLOWING PERSONS WERE ALSO PRESENT: 
 
 Karen Niday    Chief Financial Officer 
 Eric J. Mulvihill   Community Relations Specialist 
 John P. Sidd, Esq.   Agency Counsel 
 
 
 The following resolution was offered by _________________, seconded by 
_____________, to wit: 
 

Resolution No. ______________ 
 

RESOLUTION DETERMINING THAT AN ACTION TO 
UNDERTAKE A COMMERCIAL PROJECT FOR KAJEN, 
LLC, OR AN ENTITY OWNED BY THE SAME 
PRINCIPALS, WILL NOT HAVE A SIGNIFICANT ADVERSE 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT. 

 
 WHEREAS, Cortland County Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency") is 
authorized and empowered by the provisions of Chapter 1030 of the 1969 Laws of New 
York, constituting Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law, Chapter 24 of the 
Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended (the "Enabling Act") and Chapter 77 of 
the 1974 Laws of New York, as amended, constituting Section 902 of said General 
Municipal Law (said Chapter and the Enabling Act being hereinafter collectively referred 
to as the "Act") to promote, develop, encourage and assist in the acquiring, 



{H5249060.1} 2 

 

constructing, reconstructing, improving, maintaining, equipping and furnishing of 
commercial facilities, among others, for the purpose of promoting, attracting and 
developing economically sound commerce and industry to advance the job 
opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the people of the 
State of New York, to improve their prosperity and standard of living, and to prevent 
unemployment and economic deterioration; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to accomplish its stated purposes, the Agency is authorized and 
empowered under the Act to acquire, construct, reconstruct and install one or more 
"projects" (as defined in the Act) or to cause said projects to be acquired, constructed, 
reconstructed and installed, and to convey said projects or to lease said projects with 
the obligation to purchase; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Kajen, LLC, or an entity owned by the same principals, (the 
"Company") has presented an application (the "Application") to the Agency, a copy of 
which was presented at this meeting and copies of which are on file at the office of the 
Agency, requesting that the Agency consider undertaking a project (the "Project") 
consisting of the following: (A) (1) the acquisition of an interest in an approximately 7.9 
acre parcel of land (the "Land") located at 1208 Church Street and Owego Hill Road in 
the Town of Virgil, Cortland County, New York (2) the renovation of a vacant former 
school building on the Land containing approximately 26,158 square feet of space (the 
"Facility") and (3) the acquisition and installation therein and thereon of certain 
furnishings, fixtures and equipment (the "Equipment"), all of the foregoing to constitute a 
residential building consisting of approximately 38 residential units and a community 
center to be operated by the Company and occupied by residential tenants in excess of 
55 years of age (the Land, the Facility and the Equipment being collectively referred to 
as the "Project Facility"); (B) the granting of certain "financial assistance" (within the 
meaning of Section 854(14) of the Act) with respect to the foregoing, including potential 
exemptions from certain sales taxes, real estate transfer taxes, mortgage recording 
taxes and real property taxes (collectively, the "Financial Assistance"); and (C) the lease 
(with an obligation to purchase) or sale of the Project Facility to the Company or such 
other person as may be designated by the Company and agreed upon by the Agency; 
and 
 
  
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law, 
Chapter 43-B of the Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended ("SEQRA") and the 
regulations adopted pursuant thereto by the Department of Environmental Conservation 
of the State of New York, being 6 NYCRR Part 617, as amended (the "SEQRA 
Regulations", the Agency desires to determine whether the Project may have a 
significant adverse environmental impact therefore requiring the preparation of an 
environmental impact statement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to aid the Agency in determining whether the Project may have a 
significant adverse impact upon the environment, the Company has completed and 
submitted to the Agency Part 1 of a Short Environmental Assessment Form (the "EAF") 



{H5249060.1} 3 

 

for the Project, a copy of which was presented to and reviewed by the Agency at this 
meeting and a copy of which is on file at the office of the Agency; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency has examined the Application, Part 1 of the EAF, and 
classified the proposed Project as an “Unlisted Action” that is subject to SEQR; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency desires to establish itself as “Lead Agency" for purposes 
of the required SEQR review of the Project; and  
 

WHEREAS, as an Unlisted Action coordinated SEQR review with other involved 
agencies is optional, and the Agency has determined it will not coordinate review with 
other involved agencies; and 

 
WHEREAS, on April 27, 2023, the Town of Virgil Planning Board determined that 

the Project would not result in any significant adverse environmental impacts after 
completion of its own uncoordinated SEQR review of the Project; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Agency, having reviewed the proposed action, has completed a 
EAF Part 2 for the Project and makes the following findings and determination of 
significance with respect to the Project: 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF CORTLAND 
COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  Based upon an examination of the Application and the Part 1 of the 
EAF, and based further upon the Agency's knowledge of the area surrounding the 
Project Facility, and based upon its completion of Part 2 of the EAF, and based upon 
such further investigation of the Project and its environmental effects as the Agency has 
deemed appropriate, the Agency makes the following findings with respect to the 
Project: 
 
  A. The Project consists of the following: A) (1) the acquisition of an 
interest in an approximately 7.9 acre parcel of land (the "Land") located at 1208 Church 
Street and Owego Hill Road in the Town of Virgil, Cortland County, New York (2) the 
renovation of a vacant former school building on the Land containing approximately 
26,158 square feet of space (the "Facility") and (3) the acquisition and installation 
therein and thereon of certain furnishings, fixtures and equipment (the "Equipment"), all 
of the foregoing to constitute a residential building consisting of approximately 38 
residential units and a community center to be operated by the Company and occupied 
by residential tenants in excess of 55 years of age (the Land, the Facility and the 
Equipment being collectively referred to as the "Project Facility"); (B) the granting of 
certain "financial assistance" (within the meaning of Section 854(14) of the Act) with 
respect to the foregoing, including potential exemptions from certain sales taxes, real 
estate transfer taxes, mortgage recording taxes and real property taxes (collectively, the 
"Financial Assistance"); and (C) the lease (with an obligation to purchase) or sale of the 



{H5249060.1} 4 

 

Project Facility to the Company or such other person as may be designated by the 
Company and agreed upon by the Agency; and 
 
  B. No potentially large impacts on the environment exist, as described 
and assessed in Part 2 of the EAF, and none are known to the Agency. 
 
  C. The Project essentially involves the acquisition and internal and 
external renovation and adaptive reuse of an existing former school building, not 
construction of a new facility, and will cause minimal if any impact to the land, surface 
and ground waters, or to other environmental resources.  The Project will improve the 
aesthetic resources in the Project area and will help revitalize that portion of the Town of 
Virgil by refurbishing a vacant former school building.  Although endangered species of 
wildlife have been observed in the general Project area according to online wildlife 
inventory resources, the Project area consists of existing industrial, commercial and 
residential uses and infrastructure, and the Project will not remove or disturb wildlife 
habitat.  No open spaces, recreational areas will be affected, and no traffic impacts are 
expected.  Additionally, no new roads or utilities will be required to support the proposed 
Project.  For all of the aforementioned reasons, the Agency finds that there will be no 
significant environmental impacts as a result of the Project. 
 
 Section 2.  Based upon the foregoing investigation of the potential environmental 
impacts of the Project and consideration of the magnitude and importance of each 
potential environmental impact indicated in Parts 1 and 2 of the EAF, the Agency makes 
the following findings and determinations with respect to the Project: 
 
  A. The Project is an "Unlisted Action" (as said term is defined in the 
SEQRA Regulations) and, therefore, is subject to SEQRA.  Coordinated review and 
notification of other involved agencies is not required.  The Agency hereby determines 
that it will not undertake a coordinated review of the Project with other involved 
agencies.  Other involved agencies must make their own determination of significance 
with respect to SEQRA. 
 
  B. Because the Project will not result in any substantial physical 
changes to the existing structure and/or property or to surrounding resources and will 
cause only positive aesthetic changes to the area, the Project will not result in any 
significant adverse environmental impacts and, thus, will not require the preparation of 
an environmental impact statement. 
 
  C. As a consequence of the foregoing, the Agency hereby finds that 
the Project will not cause any significant adverse environmental impact and issues a 
negative declaration with respect to the Project. 
 
 Section 3.  The Executive Director or the Chief Financial Officer of the Agency 
are hereby directed to prepare a negative declaration Notice form with respect to the 
Project, said negative declaration to be substantially in the form and to the effect of the 
negative declaration attached hereto and incorporating this Resolution, and to cause 



{H5249060.1} 5 

 

copies of said negative declaration Notice and Resolution to be: (A) filed in the main 
office of the Agency, (B) distributed to the Company, and (C) distributed to the chief 
executive officers of each of the "affected tax jurisdictions" (within the meaning of the 
Act). 
 
 Section 4.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately. 
 
 The question of the adoption of the foregoing Resolution was duly put to a vote 
on roll call, which resulted as follows: 
 

Michael McMahon   VOTING ______________ 
 Stephen Compagni   VOTING ______________ 
 Clinton Brooks   VOTING ______________ 
 John O. Reagan   VOTING ______________ 
 Johanna Ames   VOTING ______________ 
 Kathleen Burke   VOTING ______________ 

Donald Richards   VOTING ______________ 
  
 The foregoing Resolution was thereupon declared and duly adopted. 
 
STATE OF NEW YORK ) 
COUNTY OF CORTLAND )  ss.: 
 
 I, the undersigned Secretary of Cortland County Industrial Development Agency 
(the "Agency"), DO HEREBY CERTIFY, that I have compared the foregoing extract of 
the minutes of the meeting of the members of the Agency, including the Resolution 
contained therein, held on September 11, 2023 with the original thereof on file in my 
office, and that the same is a true and correct copy of such proceedings of the Agency 
and of such Resolution set forth therein and of the whole of said original so far as the 
same related to the subject matters therein referred to. 
 
 I FURTHER CERTIFY that (A) all members of the Agency had due notice of said 
meeting; (B) said meeting was in all respect duly held; (C) pursuant to Article 7 of the 
Public Officers Law (the "Open Meetings Law"), said meeting was open to the general 
public and due notice of the time and place of said meeting was given in accordance 
with such Open Meetings Law; and (D) there was a quorum of the members of the 
Agency present through said meeting. 
 
 I FURTHER CERTIFY that, as of the date hereof, the attached Resolution is in 
full force and effect and has not been amended, repealed or rescinded. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of 
the Agency this 11th day of September, 2023. 
 
        __________________________ 
        Clinton Brooks, Secretary 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Preliminary Inducement  – 

Kajen LLC – Virgil School 

Housing Project   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

{H5248952.1}  

 A regular meeting of Cortland County Industrial Development Agency (the 
"Agency") was convened in public session at the offices of the Agency located at 40 
Main Street, Suite A, in the City of Cortland, Cortland County, New York on September 
11, 2023 at 12:00 o'clock p.m., local time. 
 
 The meeting was called to order by the Chairman and, upon roll being called, the 
following members of the Agency were: 
 
 PRESENT: 
 

Michael McMahon   Chairman 
 Stephen Compagni   Vice Chairman 
 Clinton Brooks   Secretary 
 John O. Reagan   Treasurer 
 Johanna Ames   Member 
 Kathleen Burke   Member 

Donald Richards   Member 
  
 
 ABSENT: 
 
 
FOLLOWING PERSONS WERE ALSO PRESENT: 
 
 Karen Niday    Chief Financial Officer 

Eric J. Mulvihill   Community Relations Specialist 
 John P. Sidd, Esq.   Agency Counsel 
 
 
 The following resolution was offered by ________________, seconded by 
______________, to wit: 
 
 

Resolution No. _____________ 
 

RESOLUTION TAKING PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL ACTION 
TOWARD THE ACQUISITION, CONSTRUCTION, 
INSTALLATION AND LEASING OF A CERTAIN 
COMMERCIAL PROJECT FOR KAJEN, LLC, OR AN 
ENTITY OWNED BY THE SAME PRINCIPALS. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, Cortland County Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency") is 
authorized and empowered by the provisions of Chapter 1030 of the 1969 Laws of New 
York, constituting Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law, Chapter 24 of the 
Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended (the "Enabling Act") and Chapter 77 of 



 

{H5248952.1} 2 

 

the 1974 Laws of New York, as amended, constituting Section 902 of said General 
Municipal Law (said Chapter and the Enabling Act being hereinafter collectively referred 
to as the "Act") to promote, develop, encourage and assist in the acquiring, 
constructing, reconstructing, improving, maintaining, equipping and furnishing of 
commercial facilities, among others, for the purpose of promoting, attracting and 
developing economically sound commerce and industry to advance the job 
opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the people of the 
State of New York, to improve their prosperity and standard of living, and to prevent 
unemployment and economic deterioration; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to accomplish its stated purposes, the Agency is authorized and 
empowered under the Act to acquire, construct, reconstruct and install one or more 
"projects" (as defined in the Act) or to cause said projects to be acquired, constructed, 
reconstructed and installed, and to convey said projects or to lease said projects with 
the obligation to purchase; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Kajen, LLC, or an entity owned by the same principals, (the 
"Company") has presented an application (the "Application") to the Agency, a copy of 
which was presented at this meeting and copies of which are on file at the office of the 
Agency, requesting that the Agency consider undertaking a project (the "Project") 
consisting of the following: (A) (1) the acquisition of an interest in an approximately 7.9 
acre parcel of land (the "Land") located at 1208 Church Street and Owego Hill Road in 
the Town of Virgil, Cortland County, New York (2) the renovation of a vacant former 
school building on the Land containing approximately 26,158 square feet of space (the 
"Facility") and (3) the acquisition and installation therein and thereon of certain 
furnishings, fixtures and equipment (the "Equipment"), all of the foregoing to constitute a 
residential building consisting of approximately 38 residential units and a community 
center to be operated by the Company and occupied by residential tenants in excess of 
55 years of age (the Land, the Facility and the Equipment being collectively referred to 
as the "Project Facility"); (B) the granting of certain "financial assistance" (within the 
meaning of Section 854(14) of the Act) with respect to the foregoing, including potential 
exemptions from certain sales taxes, real estate transfer taxes, mortgage recording 
taxes and real property taxes (collectively, the "Financial Assistance"); and (C) the lease 
(with an obligation to purchase) or sale of the Project Facility to the Company or such 
other person as may be designated by the Company and agreed upon by the Agency; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency has given due consideration to the Application and to 
representations by the Company that (A) the granting by the Agency of the Financial 
Assistance with respect to the Project will be an inducement to the Company to 
undertake the Project in Cortland County, New York, and (B) the completion of the 
Project Facility will not result in the removal of an industrial or manufacturing plant of the 
Company or any other proposed occupant of the Project Facility from one area of the 
State of New York to another area of the State of New York or in the abandonment of a 
plant or facility of the Company or any other proposed occupant of the Project Facility 
located in the State of New York; and 



 

{H5248952.1} 3 

 

 
 WHEREAS, the Agency desires to encourage the Company to preserve and 
advance the job opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the 
people of Cortland County, New York by undertaking the Project in Cortland County, 
New York; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law, 
Chapter 43-B of the Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended (the "SEQR Act"), 
and the regulations (the "Regulations") adopted pursuant thereto by the Department of 
Environmental Conservation of the State of New York (collectively with the SEQR Act, 
"SEQRA"), by resolution adopted by the members of the Agency on September 11, 
2023 (the "SEQR Resolution"), the Agency has determined that the Project will not have 
a significant effect on the environment and, therefore, that an environmental impact 
statement is not required to be prepared with respect to the Project; and 
  
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the Act, any approval of the Project contained herein is 
contingent upon a determination by the members of the Agency to proceed with the 
Project following satisfaction of the public hearing and notice requirements and other 
procedural requirements contained in Section 859-a of the Act that relate to the Project; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF CORTLAND 
COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  The Agency has reviewed the Application and based upon the 
representations made by the Company to the Agency in the Application and at this 
meeting and, based thereon, the Agency hereby makes the following findings and 
determinations with respect to the Project: 
 
  (A) The Project constitutes a "project" within the meaning of the Act; 

and 
 
  (B) The completion of the Project Facility will not result in the removal 

of an industrial or manufacturing plant of the Company or any other proposed 
occupant of the Project Facility from one area of the State of New York to 
another area of the State of New York and the completion of the Project Facility 
will not result in the abandonment of a plant or facility of a proposed occupant of 
the Project Facility located in the State of New York. 

 
  (C) The Project Facility will not constitute a project where facilities or 

property that are primarily used in making retail sales of goods or services to 
customers who personally visit such facilities constitute more than one-third of 
the total cost of the Project; and 

 
  (D) The granting of the Financial Assistance by the Agency with 

respect to the Project, through the granting of the various tax exemptions 
described in Section 2(D) of this Resolution, will promote the job opportunities, 



 

{H5248952.1} 4 

 

health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the inhabitants of Cortland 
County, New York and the State of New York and improve their standard of 
living, and thereby serve the public purposes of the Act; and 

 
  (E) Upon compliance with the provisions of the Act, the Agency would 

then be authorized under the Act to undertake the Project in order to promote the 
job opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the 
inhabitants of Cortland County, New York and the State of New York and 
improve their standard of living. 

 
 Section 2.  If, following full compliance with the requirements of the Act, including 
the public hearing requirements set forth in Section 859-a of the Act, the Agency adopts 
a future resolution (the "Future Resolution") determining to proceed with the Project and 
to grant the Financial Assistance with respect thereto and the Company complies with 
all conditions set forth in the Future Resolution, then the Agency will (A) acquire an 
interest in the Project Facility from the Company pursuant to a deed, lease agreement 
or other documentation to be negotiated between the Agency and the Company (the 
"Acquisition Agreement"); (B) construct the Facility and acquire and install the 
Equipment in the Facility or elsewhere on the Land; (C) lease (with the obligation to 
purchase) or sell the Project Facility to the Company pursuant to a lease agreement or 
an installment sale agreement (hereinafter the "Project Agreement") between the 
Agency and the Company whereby the Company will be obligated, among other things, 
(1) to make payments to the Agency in amounts and at times so that such payments will 
be adequate to enable the Agency to timely pay all amounts due on the Acquisition 
Agreement and (2) to pay all costs incurred by the Agency with respect to the Project 
and/or the Project Facility, including all costs of operation and maintenance, all taxes 
and other governmental charges, any required payments in lieu of taxes and the 
reasonable fees and expenses incurred by the Agency with respect to or in connection 
with the Project and/or the Project Facility, and (D) provide the Financial Assistance with 
respect to the Project, in accordance with the Agency's uniform tax exemption policy, 
including (1) exemption from mortgage recording taxes with respect to any documents 
recorded by the Agency with respect to the Project in the Office of the County Clerk of 
Cortland County, New York or elsewhere, (2) exemption from sales taxes relating to the 
acquisition, construction and installation of the Project Facility, (3) exemption from deed 
transfer taxes and real estate transfer gains taxes on real estate transfers to and from 
the Agency with respect to the Project, and (4) exemption from real estate taxes (but not 
including special assessments and special ad valorem levies) relating to the Project 
Facility, subject to the obligation of the Company to make payments in lieu of taxes with 
respect to the Project Facility. 
 
 Section 3.  If the Agency adopts the Future Resolution, the undertaking and 
completing of the Project by the Agency, and the granting of the Financial Assistance 
with respect to the Project as contemplated by Section 2 of this Resolution, shall be 
subject to:  (A) the determination by the members of the Agency to proceed with the 
Project following a determination by the members of the Agency that all requirements of 
SEQRA that relate to the Project have been fulfilled; (B) agreement by the Agency and 



 

{H5248952.1} 5 

 

the Company on mutually acceptable terms for the conveyance of the Land to the 
Agency; (C) agreement between the Company and the Agency as to payment by the 
Company of payments in lieu of taxes with respect to the Project Facility, together with 
the administrative fee of the Agency with respect to the Project; (D) a determination by 
the members of the Agency to proceed with the granting of the Financial Assistance 
with respect to the Project following a determination by the members of the Agency that 
the public hearing and notice requirements and other procedural requirements 
contained in Section 859-a of the Act have been complied with; (E) the Agency's 
uniform tax exemption policy or if any portion of the Financial Assistance to be granted 
by the Agency with respect to the Project is not consistent with the Agency's uniform tax 
exemption policy, the Agency must follow the procedures for deviation from such policy 
set forth in Section 874(b) of the Act prior to granting such portion of the Financial 
Assistance; and (F) the following additional condition(s): None. 
 
 Section 4.  The officers, agents and employees of the Agency are hereby 
authorized, empowered and directed to proceed with the undertakings provided for 
herein on the part of the Agency and are further authorized to do all such acts and 
things and to execute all such documents as may be necessary or convenient to carry 
out and comply with the terms and provisions of this Resolution. 
 
 Section 5.  John P. Sidd, Esq., of the law firm of Hancock Estabrook LLP is 
hereby appointed Special Counsel to the Agency with respect to all matters in 
connection with the Project.  Special Counsel for the Agency is hereby authorized, at 
the expense of the Company, to work with the Company, counsel to the Company and 
others to prepare for submission to the Agency, all documents necessary to effect the 
transactions contemplated by this Resolution. 
 

Section 6.  Pursuant to Section 875(3) of the Act, the Agency shall recover, 
recapture, receive, or otherwise obtain from the Company that portion of the Financial 
Assistance which constitutes state sales and use tax exemptions taken or purported to 
be taken by the Company to which the Company is not entitled or which are in excess 
of the amount authorized by the Agency or which are for property or services not 
authorized by the Agency as part of the Project or were taken by the Company when 
the Company failed to comply with a material term or condition to use property or 
services in the manner required by the Agency.  The Company shall cooperate with the 
Agency in its efforts to recover, recapture, receive, or otherwise obtain such state sales 
and use tax exemptions and shall promptly pay over any such amounts to the Agency.  
The failure to pay over such amounts to the Agency shall be grounds for the New York 
State Commissioner of Taxation and Finance to assess and determine state sales and 
use taxes due from the Company under Article 28 of the Tax Law of the State of New 
York, together with any relevant penalties and interest due on such amounts. 
 
 Section 7.  The Executive Director and the Chief Financial Officer of the Agency, 
prior to the granting of any Financial Assistance with respect to the Project, after 
consultation with Special Counsel, are authorized (A) to establish a time, date and place 
for a public hearing of the Agency to hear all persons interested in the location and 



 

{H5248952.1} 6 

 

nature of the Project Facility and the proposed Financial Assistance being contemplated 
by the Agency with respect to the Project, said public hearing to be held in the city, town 
or village where the Project Facility will be located; (B) to cause notice of such public 
hearing to be given to the public by publishing a notice of such hearing in a newspaper 
of general circulation available to residents of the governmental units where the Project 
Facility is to be located, such notice to comply with the requirements of Section 859-a of 
the Act and to be published no fewer than ten (10) days prior to the date established for 
such public hearing; (C) to cause notice of said public hearing to be given to the chief 
executive officer of the county and each city, town, village and school district in which 
the Project Facility is or is to be located no fewer than ten (10) days prior to the date 
established for said public hearing; (D) to conduct such public hearing; and (E) to cause 
a report of said public hearing fairly summarizing the views presented at said public 
hearing to be promptly prepared. 
 
 Section 8.  The Chairman, Vice Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Financial 
Officer of the Agency are hereby authorized and directed to distribute copies of this 
Resolution to the Company and to do such further things or perform such acts as may 
be necessary or convenient to implement the provisions of this Resolution. 
 
 Section 9. This Resolution shall take effect immediately. 
 
 The question of the adoption of the foregoing Resolution was duly put to a vote 
on roll call, which resulted as follows: 

 
Michael McMahon   VOTING ______________ 

 Stephen Compagni   VOTING ______________ 
 Clinton Brooks   VOTING ______________ 
 John O. Reagan   VOTING ______________ 
 Johanna Ames   VOTING ______________ 
 Kathleen Burke   VOTING ______________ 

Donald Richards   VOTING ______________ 
 
 
The foregoing Resolution was thereupon declared duly adopted. 
 
STATE OF NEW YORK ) 
COUNTY OF CORTLAND )  ss.: 
 
 I, the undersigned Secretary of Cortland County Industrial Development Agency 
(the "Agency"), DO HEREBY CERTIFY, that I have compared the foregoing extract of 
the minutes of the meeting of the members of the Agency, including the Resolution 
contained therein, held on September 11, 2023 with the original thereof on file in my 
office, and that the same is a true and correct copy of such proceedings of the Agency 
and of such Resolution set forth therein and of the whole of said original so far as the 
same related to the subject matters therein referred to. 
 



 

{H5248952.1} 7 

 

 I FURTHER CERTIFY that (A) all members of the Agency had due notice of said 
meeting; (B) said meeting was in all respect duly held; (C) pursuant to Article 7 of the 
Public Officers Law (the "Open Meetings Law"), said meeting was open to the general 
public and due notice of the time and place of said meeting was given in accordance 
with such Open Meetings Law; and (D) there was a quorum of the members of the 
Agency present through said meeting. 
 
 I FURTHER CERTIFY that, as of the date hereof, the attached Resolution is in 
full force and effect and has not been amended, repealed or rescinded. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of 
the Agency this 11th day of September, 2023. 
 
 
        __________________________ 
        Clinton Brooks, Secretary 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Proposed 2024 IDA Budget  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Cortland County IDA 
Proposed Budget- 2024 

PAAA 2025-2027 
 
 
 

REVENUES   DESCRIPTION 
 
 
Project Fee   2024 is based on the estimated assumption of $55m in project  
    investments – a blend of general expansion projects and small 
    solar projects.  
    Years 2025-2027 are based o the estimated assumption of $30m in  
    Project investments each year.  
        
     
Land Lease/Application  
Fee    2024 is based upon the current contract agreements (NYS&W $1,500) 
     and Park Outdoor ($14,833) and holds throughout the proposed 
    2025-2027 period. PILOT fees for general projects ($500) and solar 
    Projects (5,000) are included in the estimate.  
 
Investment Earnings:  Based upon current earnings projections.   
 
 
 
EXPENSES   DESCRIPTION 
 
 
Professional Services: Legal, audit services, consultant services for projects.  
 
Supplies / Materials:  Office, postage, meeting equipment/supplies-etc. 
 
Other Operating:  Annual D&O and Property insurance policies; water/sewer/fire 
    @ Contento property. 
 
Other Non-Operating:  Misc. expenses related to the Contento and Cleveland St site such as  
    general maintenance and including application fees for potential grant 
    programs (Cleveland St property). 
 
Capital Asset Outlay:  2024 is an estimated placeholder to allow for the ability to enter 
    into a capital project in a timely manner.  
 
 
Please note the Proposed Budget period is required by PAAA and will be posted to the Public Authority 
website upon board approval. The amounts stated are conservatively low and only an estimate based on 
past historical activities.   



Cortland County Industrial

Development Agency

Budget Summary

2024

2023 2023 2024 2025-2027

Adopted Projected Draft PAAA Proposed

Budget at 12/31/23 Budget Budget

Expenses

Operating:

Professional Svc - Legal/Acctg 50,000             24,500               30,000             30,000

Office Supplies/Materials/Bk Fees 1,500               300                    1,000               1,000

Other Operating: 

          Property Insurance 400                  -                         1,000               1000

          D&O Insurance 1,700               1,600                 1,700               1,700

          Property Taxes-water/sewer 200                  198                    200                  200

BDC Administrative Support 50,000             50,000               50,000             50,000

Non-Operating:

Capital Asset Outlay 200,000           -                         400,000           200,000

Site Testing, Maintenance, Property 60,000             25,000               100,000           50,000

Clean up

Total Expenses 363,800           101,598             583,900           333,900

Revenue

Project Fee 70,000             347,000             550,000           300,000

Land Lease /Application Fees 17,333             35,171               35,000 35,000

Interest Income 500                  25,500               20,000             20,000

N Grid Grant 61,149               -                      

Total Revenue 87,833             468,820             605,000           355,000

Provided to (Utililization of) (275,967)         367,222             21,100             21,100

Cash on hand @ 9/1/2023:

$990,008



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Monthly Financial Report  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Cortland County IDA
Balance Sheet

August 31, 2023

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
NBT - Checking 5112 $ 93,528.96
NBT Proj Invest Checking 847,055.30
NBT Money Mkt Savings 49,423.62
Prepaid Expenses 330.91

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 990,338.79

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land-Railroad Properties 209,818.00
Land-Contento Property 91,835.00
Land-Cleveland St - Apex 303,143.60
Leasehold Improvements 3,376.80
Accum.Depreciation-L.H.I. (2,363.76)
Office Equipment 5,909.00
Accum.Depreciation-Equip (5,909.00)

NET PROPERTY & EQUIPMENT 605,809.64

RECEIVABLES
Lease A/R - Park Outdoor 68,595.69

TOTAL RECEIVABLES 68,595.69

TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,664,744.12

LIABILITIES/FUND BALANCE

CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 0.00

LONG TERM LIABILITIES
Due to BDC-Contento Property $ 91,835.00
Deferred Inflows-Leases 68,595.69

TOTAL LONG TERM LIABILITIES 160,430.69

TOTAL LIABILITIES 160,430.69

FUND BALANCE
Unrestricted  Earnings 1,495,310.17
Net Income 9,003.26

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 1,504,313.43

TOTAL LIAB &  FUND BALANCE $ 1,664,744.12



Page: 1

Cortland County IDA
Income Statement

For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2023

Current Month Year to Date
REVENUE
Interest on Deposits $ 2,154.44 $ 13,691.13
Lease Interest Revenue 0.00 2,161.69
Land Lease 0.00 14,171.31
National Grid Grant Program 0.00 61,149.00
Cort Crown Homes PILOT 0.00 23,902.40
Creamery Hills PILOT 0.00 10,341.33
83-85 Main LLC PILOT 0.00 14,000.00
Lapeer Cortland Solar PILOT 0.00 45,000.00
DG NY 1 C Ville LLC 0.00 22,950.00
Janis Solar LLC 0.00 30,600.00
Yellow 3 LLC 0.00 16,830.00
DG NY C'Ville #3 0.00 22,500.00

Total Revenue 2,154.44 277,296.86

TOTAL REVENUE 2,154.44 277,296.86

EXPENSES
Apex/Cleveland St Property 170.00 15,722.77
Accounting 0.00 8,000.00
Bank Charges 0.00 20.00
Legal 33.09 2,598.03
Professional Services 0.00 4,250.00
Property Tax-Sewer/Water 0.00 198.03
D & O Insurance 130.42 1,043.36
Depreciation 0.00 337.68
Cort Crown Homes PILOT 0.00 23,902.40
Creamery Hills PILOT 0.00 10,341.33
83-85 Main LLC PILOT 0.00 14,000.00
Lapeer Cortland Solar PILOT 0.00 45,000.00
DG NY 1 C Ville 0.00 22,950.00
Janis Solar LLC 0.00 30,600.00
Yellow 3 LLC 0.00 16,830.00
DG NY C'Ville #3 0.00 22,500.00
BDC Admin Support 0.00 50,000.00

TOTAL EXPENSES 333.51 268,293.60

NET INCOME $ 1,820.93 $ 9,003.26


	Name of Project: Kajen, LLC Project
	Date of Project: September 11, 2023 
	Part 2 1: No
	Part 2 2: No
	Part 2 3: No
	Part 2 4: No
	Part 2 5: No
	Part 2 6: No
	Part 6: Off
	Part 2 7a: No
	Part 2 7b: No
	Part 2 8: No
	Part 2 9: No
	Part 2 10: No
	Part 2 11: No
	Print 1: 
	Part 3: Yes
	Part 3 Determination of Significance: 
	Name of Lead Agency: Cortland County Industrial Development Agency
	Date for Part 3: September 11, 2023
	print of Type Name of Responsible Officer in Lead Agency: Michael McMahon
	Title of Responsible Officer: Chairman
	Signature of Responisible Officer in Lead Agency: 
	Signature of Preparer (If different from Responsible Officer): 
	Project 3: Kajen, LLC Project
	Date 3: September 11, 2023 
	Print 2: 


